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Purpose and Objectives  
The purpose of Domestic Violence for CNAs is to introduce CNAs to basic concepts about domestic 

violence and the three key groups that are victims of domestic violence.  

  

After successful completion of this course, you will be able to:  

• Define the statistics about domestic violence.  

• Identify different types of domestic violence.  

• Describe Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) and several of the key aspects about it.  

• Describe Elder Abuse and the different settings it can occur in.  

• Describe Child Abuse and Neglect and several of the key aspects about it.  

  

Introduction  
Domestic violence is any type of abuse that occurs in families. It involves injuring someone; usually a 
spouse or partner, but it can also be a parent, child or other family member (MedlinePlus, 2012).  
Domestic violence is a serious problem. Victims may suffer physical injuries such as bruises or 
broken bones. They may suffer emotionally from depression, anxiety or social isolation.   
  

It is hard to know exactly how common domestic violence is, because people often don't report it. There 

is no typical victim. It happens among people of all ages. It affects those of all levels of income and 

education (Medline Plus, 2012). Domestic violence can also occur in many different settings.   

  

In this course we will discuss 3 types of domestic violence:   

  

1. Domestic violence issues with intimate partners, known as Intimate Partner Violence (IPV)  

2. Elder abuse  

3. Child abuse  

  

What Is Domestic Violence?  
Domestic violence is any form of abuse by a caregiver, a parent, a spouse or an intimate partner. It can 

take many forms and can happen within any age group.   

  

Some types of domestic violence may include one or more of the following types of abuse:  

  

• Sexual abuse  

• Physical abuse  

• Emotional abuse  

• Financial & Social abuse  

  

(FamilyDoctor.org, 2010).   

  



 

Often a victim is abused in more than one way, for instance they can be abused physically and 

emotionally.  

  

Domestic Violence: Physical Abuse  
Physical violence is the deliberate use of physical force with the potential for causing death, disability, 

injury, or harm.   

  

Physical violence includes scratching, pushing, shoving, throwing, grabbing and biting. It also includes 

choking, shaking, slapping, punching, burning, and use of a weapon. It can involve the use of restraints 

or one’s body, size, or strength against another person.  

  
True or False?  

Shaking a person is not considered physical violence because it leaves no visible injury. False!  

Shaking a person can cause internal physical or psychological injury.  

  

Domestic Violence: Sexual Abuse  
Sexual violence is the use of physical force to engage a person in a sexual act against his or her will. 

It does not matter if the act is completed or not.   

  

Sexual violence also includes attempted or completed sex acts involving a person who is not willing or 

able to understand. This also includes those who are not able to indicate unwillingness.  

  

Domestic Violence: Emotional and Psychological Abuse  
Psychological and emotional violence can include, but is not limited to, humiliating the victim. It is also 
controlling what the victim can and cannot do, withholding information from the victim, or isolating the 
victim from friends and family.   
  

Psychological abuse can include denying the victim access to money or other basic resources.   

  

Domestic Violence: Neglect and Abandonment  
Neglect occurs mainly with children and elders. Neglect is the failure of a guardian or caregiver to 

provide for a person's basic needs.  

  

Neglect may be:  

  

• Educational - Failure to allow for education  

• Medical - Failure to provide necessary medical or mental health treatment  

• Physical - Failure to provide necessary food, shelter, clothing or supervision  

• Emotional - Inattention to emotional needs, or permitting the use of alcohol or drugs  

  

These situations do not always mean neglect is involved. Sometimes cultural values and poverty may 
contribute towards neglect (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2012). In these situations, the CNA 
can identify families in need and notify the supervisor to take action.   
  

Since both children and elders must rely on others to have their needs met, both groups are at risk for 

neglect. Neglect can be as serious as other types of abuse and should not be treated lightly.  



 

  
True or False?  

Emotional neglect does not have long term effects.  

False!  

Emotional neglect causes profound health consequences (National Institute of Health, 2008).  

  

Financial and Social Abuse  
Financial abuse is the illegal or improper use of another’s funds, property, or assets. Usually this is 

seen with elder abuse. This can include cashing checks without authorization, forging a signature, 

misusing or stealing a person’s money or possessions, or deceiving a person into signing any document 

(e.g., a contract or a will).  

  

Social violence includes restricting the victim from normal social contacts. This includes restricting 

contact from friends, family, or co-workers as well as restriction from other social contacts in an effort 

to isolate the victim.  

  

Types of Spouse / Intimate Partner Violence  
Intimate Partner Violence (IPV) is a term for a category of domestic violence commonly known as 

“spouse abuse.”   

  

According to the Centers for Disease Control (CDC, 2012) intimate partner violence is “any behavior 
purposely inflicted by one person against another within an intimate relationship that causes physical, 
psychological or sexual harm.”  

  

This includes:  

• Financial abuse; such as not allowing the partner access to money or taking control of the partner’s 

money  

• Sexual violence, forcing a person to perform any sexual acts that they do not wish to perform either 

through physical force or threats  

• Physical violence; such as hitting, punching, kicking, slapping, or shoving; it is also using a weapon 

and burning, or threatening to do any of these things  

• Emotional abuse and controlling behaviors; such as name calling or embarrassing the partner 

in front of other people; it is also isolating a partner from family and friends, or controlling contact 

with healthcare providers  

  

Victims of Intimate Partner Violence (IVP)  
Partners can be married or unmarried men, women or same sex partners, dating or living together, or 
used to date or live together. Any couple, who has had a child together, regardless of their current 
status as a couple, is also considered “intimate partners.”  
  

The legal definitions of “intimate partner violence” differ by state. Each state defines abusive behavior 
differently. Your facility, local police, domestic violence shelters and hotlines can give you specifics for 
your state.  
  



 

There are other terms you might hear being used: domestic violence, spousal abuse, battering, dating 
violence, couple violence, and woman abuse. In this course we will use the term intimate partner 
violence (IPV) to describe all of these situations.  
  

Often, IPV starts with emotional abuse. This behavior can progress to physical or sexual 

assault. Several types of IPV may occur together (CDC, 2012b).  

  
True or False?  

Intimate partner violence only refers to abuse between married people. 

False!  

Although definitions vary from state to state, the term refers to both heterogeneous and same sex 

couples, who may have or are married, dating or living together.  

  

  

Who Is At Risk for IPV?  
Several factors can increase the risk that someone will hurt his or her partner. However, having these 

risk factors does not always mean that IPV will occur.  

  

Risk factors for hurting a partner include:   

  

• Being violent or aggressive in the past  

• Seeing or being a victim of violence as a child  

• Using drugs or alcohol, especially drinking heavily  

• Not having a job or other life events that cause stress  

  

(CDC, 2012).  

  

Causes of Intimate Partner Violence  
The reasons for IPV are specific to each particular situation and relationship. However, there are some 

generalities that are believed to be true based on research conducted.   

  

Battering relationships are the most severe kinds of violent intimate relationships, and tend to increase 

over time.   

  

Early in the abusive relationship, a battered woman often does not recognize the controlling behaviors 

as problematic and blames the violence on other causes such as substance abuse or stress from work 

or unemployment.   

  

The abused partner often does not label the behavior as abusive and would not label herself as abused 

or battered. She may also think that the behavior will change if the situation were different (e.g. less 

stressful).   

  

She may try to make changes herself that will influence the batterer’s behavior (not upsetting him, 

keeping the children quiet, etc.). However, this rarely decreases the abuse.  

  
True or False?  



 

Intimate Partner Violence will decrease over time if external stress can be removed from the couple's 
situation.  

False.   

This type of violence tends to increase rather than decrease over time.  

  

Stalking  
Stalking is considered to be another type of intimate partner violence.   

  

According to the National Center for Victims of Crime (NCVC), stalking is a course of conduct that is 

directed at a particular individual that can cause a reasonable person to become fearful (NCVC, 2008).   

  

Partners can be married or formerly married couples, unmarried couples currently dating and those that 

have dated, or unmarried couples who are living together or have lived together in the past.  

  

Any couple, who has had a child together, regardless of their current or former status as a couple, is 

also considered “intimate partners.”  

  

  

Outcome of Intimate Partner Violence  
Over time, the majority of battered women do leave the abusive relationship or manage to make the 

violence end. They use active problem solving to manage the abusive behavior and the other issues in 

their lives. If they use violence against their abusive partners, it is generally in self-defense. However, 

in spite of most attempts by abused women, batterers can be extremely dangerous and often become 

even more dangerous after the woman leaves (Campbell et. al., 2003).   

In these relationships, children are also seriously at risk, for both direct child abuse and for deleterious 

effects from witnessing violence (Campbell et al., 2003).  

  

Although many violent relationships are extremely dangerous and increasingly abusive, not all will be 

life threatening.   

  

Some researchers have identified another type of abusive relationship, where the violence is sporadic, 

occasional, more likely to be mutual, and not as likely to escalate over time. These relationships also 

compromise women’s health, but victims may not be ready or willing to leave their partners or to use 

the police to deal with the violence.  

  

The Effect of IPV on Health  
IPV can affect health in many ways. The longer the violence goes on, the more serious the effects.  

  

Many victims suffer physical injuries. Some are minor like cuts, scratches, bruises, and welts. Others 
are more serious and can cause death or disabilities. These include broken bones, internal bleeding, 
and head trauma.  
  

Not all injuries are physical. IPV can also cause emotional harm. Victims may have trauma symptoms. 

This includes flashbacks, panic attacks, and trouble sleeping. Victims often have low self-esteem. They 

may have a hard time trusting others and being in relationships. The anger and stress that victims feel 

may lead to eating disorders and depression. Some victims even think about or commit suicide.  



 

  

IPV is linked to harmful health behaviors as well. Victims may try to cope with their trauma in unhealthy 

ways. This includes smoking, drinking, taking drugs, or having risky sex.  

  

(CDC, 2012).  

  

Elder Abuse  
Most reported cases of elder abuse are physical abuse, neglect, and financial abuse (National Center 

on Elder Abuse [NCAE], 2010b). Abuse can occur at an elder’s home, in a skilled nursing facility, or 

other residential care settings. However, elder abuse appears to be more common in the home setting, 

where family members are providing the primary care of an elder relative. As a CNA, it is important that 

you understand that abuse can occur anywhere, at anytime, and to anyone.   

  

It is important to fully understand all of the reasons that could place an elder at risk for abuse. 
Although not a normal part of the aging process, memory impairment and/or dementia severely 
affects an older adult's ability to reason, make judgments, and remain independent (NCAE, 2010a). 
Researchers have looked at the many reasons for abuse, neglect, and mistreatment of elders.   
  

The Rights of Elders  
Every person, including the elderly, has rights. The National Council on Elder Abuse (NCEA) has 

developed guidelines to help ensure that the rights of the elderly are protected (NCEA, 2011).  

  

These are the rights of the elderly:  

  

• All adults have a right to be safe.  

• Adults have the right to refuse or accept services.  

• Adults retain all their rights unless some of their rights have been restricted by a judge.  

• Adults have the right to make decisions that may not be socially acceptable, but will not cause 

anyone harm.  

• Adults are presumed to have the ability to make decisions for themselves, unless this right has been 

removed by a judge.  

  

Types of Elder Abuse  
Over the years there has been a significant improvement by the federal and local governments to 
protect elders who are abused. With Adult Protective Services (APS) and other community advocacy 
agencies and organizations, older adults have the right to feel safe and protected from harm and 
know that there is help available to them.  
  

The National Center on Elder Abuse [NCEA] (2010b) defines seven major types of elder abuse:   

  

•Sexual  

•Neglect  

•Physical  

•Financial  

•Self-neglect  



 

•Abandonment  

•Psychological or emotional  

  

It has been argued that self-neglect isn’t a true form of abuse because there is no other person 
involved. The older person is inflicting the pain upon him or herself. You may see self-neglect in your 
healthcare setting.  
  

Neglect and Abandonment in Elders  
Neglect in the elderly is defined as the refusal or failure of the caregiver to fulfill their obligations or 
duties to an elder. Neglect typically means the refusal or failure to provide an elderly person with such 
life necessities as food, water, clothing, shelter, or comfort.   
  

It also includes refusing to meet the elders needs for personal hygiene, medicine, and personal safety.  

  

Abandonment can be separately defined from neglect or seen as part of neglect. Abandonment is 

defined as the desertion of elder by the person who is responsible for providing care.   

  

Causes of Elder Abuse  
Why does elder abuse occur? Some of the common reasons for abuse include:  

  

• Caregiver stress: Sometimes family caregivers do not have the skills, information, resources, etc. 
to care for an elderly person. The care giving role may cause extreme stress and frustration. In 
addition, caregivers who are financially dependent upon the elder person are also more likely to be 
abusive.  



• 

 Domestic violence: If a person was involved in domestic violence at a younger age, it is more likely 

that the person will become abusive as they age.   

• Inter-generational transmission of violence: Similar to the above theory, a person who was 

abused as a child may become an abuser at a later time, even possibly with an elderly person.  

• Social isolation: If the abuser or the abused is fairly isolated, abuse is more likely to occur. The 

reasons for this are unclear, but may be related to lack of social support.  

  

Depending on your state law, and the facility you work in, you may be required to report suspected 

elder abuse. Ensure that you are aware of your reporting requirements. To report suspected abuse in 

the community, contact your local adult protective services agency. For state reporting numbers, visit 

the NCEA website at www.ncea.aoa.gov.  

  
True or False?  

The cycle of domestic violence continues only if there is a lot of stress in the situation. False!  

The cycle continues also when an elder becomes weak, ill or financially dependent.  

  

Child Abuse  
Child maltreatment includes all types of abuse and neglect of a child under the age of 18 by a parent, 

caregiver, or another person in a custodial role (e.g., clergy, coach, or teacher).   

  

There are four common types of abuse:  

  

1. Physical abuse: The use of physical force, such as hitting, kicking, shaking, burning or other show 

of force against a child.  

2. Sexual abuse: Involves engaging a child in sexual acts. It includes fondling, rape, and exposing a 

child to other sexual activities.  

3. Emotional abuse: Behaviors that harm a child’s self-worth or emotional well-being. Examples 

include name calling, shaming, rejection, withholding love, and threatening.  

4. Neglect: Is the failure to meet a child’s basic needs. These needs include housing, food, clothing, 

education, and access to medical care.  

  

(Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2012).   

  

Signs of Physical Abuse in Children  
Not all signs of physical abuse in children are easily visualized. Physical abuse might be suspected 

when a parent or other caregiver is unable to offer any reasonable explanation for their child’s injury. 

The adult may use harsh discipline with the child. They might verbalize that they have a history of being 

abused themselves when they were a child. They might even express a negative view of their child or 

describe them as evil.   

  

Physical abuse might be of concern if you see a child that:  

  

• Withdraws when adults approach  

• Reports an injury by a parent or other adult caregiver  

• Has marks or fading bruises that are noticeable after an absence from school  



• 

• Has any unexplained injury such as bites, bruises, burns, broken bones, or black eyes  

 Appears frightened of the parents and protests or cries when it is time to leave (Child Welfare 

Information Gateway, 2006c)  

  

Other signs of physical abuse might include:  

  

• Multiple bruises in various stages of healing  

• Bruising or welts with unusual shapes or patterns on the back, upper arms, buttocks, thighs, face or 

throat  

• Unexplained or unusual burns: cigarette burns, burns in the shape of appliances or common 

household utensils (burner on a stove), immersion burns that leave sock or glove like burns on the 

body, round shaped burns on the genitals or buttocks, burns on the palms of the hands, soles of the 

feet  

  

Types of Child Abuse  
  
Physical neglect is the failure to provide basic needs such as food, shelter, and clothing. One common 

type of neglect in infants is diagnosed as “Failure to Thrive,” or FTT. This condition is frequently seen 

in children less than one year of age. FTT is suspected in infants when their motor development, height, 

and weight fall significantly short of average-size same-gender children.  

  

Medical neglect is defined as the failure to provide minimal levels of medical care or withholding 
medical treatment. Some states recognize the right of parents to avoid medical care for their children 
based on religious beliefs (Child Welfare Information Gateway, 2012).  
  

Emotional neglect is conscious or unconscious withholding of love and nurturing. Emotional neglect 
occurs when the child’s needs for nurturing are not met. This type of neglect is very hard to define 
and “diagnose” because in our society, there is no agreed upon measure of “sufficient” affection, 
support, and reinforcement.  
  

Educational neglect is the failure to educate a child and/or overtly depriving a child of the opportunity 

to obtain an education.  

  

Note! Neglect is the most common form of child maltreatment (Child Welfare Information 

Gateway, 2012).  

  
True or False?  

Emotional neglect is difficult to define because it is impossible to know how much nurturing someone 

needs.  

True!  

Emotional neglect is hard to label.  

  

Signs of Neglect in Children  
Signs of neglect are usually easily recognized and include:  

• Using drugs or alcohol  



• 

• Frequent absences from school  

• Begging for or stealing food and money  

• Lack of appropriate clothing for the weather  

• Unkempt appearance and strong body odor  

 Stating that there is no one to take care of them  

• Lacking medical or dental care; lacks glasses to correct vision (if needed)  

  

Other signs that a parent or caregiver is neglecting their child might include:  

• Irrational behavior  

• Abuses alcohol or drugs  

• Appearing indifferent to the child  

• Appears depressed, withdrawn, or apathetic  

  

(Tennyson Center for Children at Colorado Christian Home, 2006).  

  

Signs of Sexual Abuse in Children  
Children are vulnerable to sexual abuse for many reasons. Fear, desire to please the adult and lack of 

physical strength to stop sexual abuse are some of the reasons that children are often victims of sexual 

abuse.  

  

Signs of sexual abuse in children may include:  

• Bedwetting or nightmares  

• Running away from home  

• Difficulty sitting or walking  

• A sudden change in appetite  

• Reports (by the child) that they are being abused  

• Demonstrating an unusual amount of sexual behavior or knowledge  

• Has a sexually transmitted disease or becomes pregnant especially if under the age of 14  

  

Other indicators of sexual abuse might include:  

• Pain and irritation of the genitals  

• Thumb sucking or other regressive behaviors  

• Bruising and bleeding of vaginal or anal areas  

• Wearing extra layers of clothing, reluctance to undress   

• Frequent urinary tract infection, yeast infection or sore throat  

  

(Tennyson Center for Children at Colorado Christian Home, 2006).  

  

Causes of Child Abuse  
Child abuse is a common occurrence, and abused children often are seen in the emergency department 

or physicians' offices.   

  

Understanding the underlying cause of child abuse may assist you in dealing with the perpetrator of the 

abuse. The reasons that people abuse children are varied, and may include:   

  



• 

• A Parent Who Was Exposed to Neglect or Abuse as a Child: Of all the factors that characterize 
the background of abusers, the most common is previous exposure to some form of violence. 
Studies show a link between being a victim of child abuse and later becoming someone who 
commits child abuse (Clarke, et al., 1999).   

 A Parent Unable to Break the Cycle: Abusive parents who recognize their problems are often 
reluctant to seek help because of the stigma attached to being identified as a child abuser. They 
need assistance getting into counseling and support situations.  

• A Parent Who Uses Drugs: Parental drug use is a predominant contributor to child abuse. Children 

of parents who use drugs are almost 3 times more likely to be physically or sexually abused and 4 

times more likely to be neglected (Center on Addiction and Substance Abuse, 1999).  

• The Profile of the Sexually Abusive Parent: Sexually abusive parents share many characteristics 

of physical and emotional abusers. Both groups share unhappiness, loneliness, and rigidity. The 

sexual offender is rarely psychotic or otherwise criminal in behavior. Many have been molested 

themselves when they were children, and they continue the cycle of abuse.  

  
True or False?   

Sexual predators are all psychotic.  

False!  

Many of them were molested as children.  

  

Child Protective Services  
Child Protective Services (CPS) is the name used by most states for the agency charged with 
protection of children. Each state has its own unique body of law that establishes the criteria for each 
state’s CPS agency.   
  

The purpose of CPS is to protect and insure the safety of children who have been, or are at risk, of 

maltreatment.  

  

The National Child Abuse Hotline is: 1-800-4-A-CHILD (1-800-422-4453).  

There are crisis counselors available 24/7.  

  

Child Abuse and Cultural Issues  
Sometimes defining abuse can be a challenge with different cultural backgrounds. The wide variety of 

cultural traditions in our society causes the difficulty in establishing a universally accepted definition of 

child maltreatment. In an immigrant society like the United States there are different child rearing 

practices. These practices can be considered normal in some cultures and abusive in others. However, 

the CNA may suspect child abuse when the caretaker explains injuries differently to the child.   

  

True or False?  

Cultural differences in childrearing make it difficult to define child abuse. 

True!  

More education and communication is needed when considering individual cases.  

  



• 

Patient History and Physical Indicators of Abuse  
The following represents general objective criteria that may be applicable for all forms of abuse. They 

do not necessarily mean that abuse is occurring in every case, but consider them to be at least warning 

signs of possible abuse.  

  

Patient History  

• Abandonment  

• Suicide attempt  

 Substance abuse  

• Patient reports injury  

• History of repeated injuries  

• Different description of incident  

  

Physical Indicators  

• Poor hygiene  

• Unexplained malnutrition/dehydration  

• Bruises, fractures, burns, or repeated falls  

• Genital trauma, bleeding, discharge, or STD  

• Unexplained wounds, punctures, or abrasions  

  

Behavioral and Caregiver Indications of Abuse  
Behavioral Indicators  

• Denial, fearful  

• Aggressive, agitated  

• Developmental delay  

• Withdrawn, depressed  

• Confusion, disorientation  

• Excessive dependence, attention-seeking  

• Reluctant to speak openly or in front of parent/partner/caregiver  

  

Parent/Partner/Caregiver Indicators  

• Blames the injury on other persons  

• Differing descriptions of injury/incident  

• Delay in bringing patient in for treatment  

• Speaks on behalf of patient when patient can speak for self  

  

What Does All This Mean To The CNA?  
As a CNA you may be exposed to situations where you believe some type of abuse (including neglect) 

is occurring. It is your responsibility to share your concerns with the charge nurse or physician in charge. 

They have a legal responsibility to report suspected cases of abuse. Because you suspect abuse does 

not mean it is occurring, but without reporting your concerns you cannot be certain of the situation.  

  
True or False?  

You are legally bound to file a written report of domestic violence when you think it may be happening 
to your patients. False!  



• 

Your responsibility is to share your suspicions with the nurse or doctor in charge. They are legally 

responsible for reporting these cases.  

  

  
  



 

Conclusion  
There are many types of abuse and many potential victims of abuse. Intimate partner abuse, elder 

abuse, and child abuse all are occurring. In the healthcare setting you may be exposed to one or more 

types of abuse. Recognizing the potential signs of abuse will help you work with other team members 

to help patients and families break the cycle of abuse.   

  

Resources: IPV Prevention & Reporting  
  
• CDC Facebook Page on Violence Prevention: www.facebook.com/vetoviolence  

  
• National Domestic Violence Hotline: 1-800-799-SAFE (7233), 1-800-787-3224 TTY, or www.ndvh.org  

  
• National Coalition Against Domestic Violence: www.ncadv.org  

  
• National Sexual Violence Resource Center: www.nsvrc.org  

  
• Family Violence Prevention Fund: www.endabuse.org  

  

Resources: Elder Abuse Prevention & Reporting  
  
• Elder Abuse Helplines and Hotlines: 1-800-677-1116  

  
Always dial 911 or local police during emergencies.  

  
Additional Resources:  

  
• National Center on Elder Abuse: www.ncea.aoa.gov  

  
• National Institute on Aging: www.nia.nih.gov  

  
• National Institute of Justice: www.ojp.usdoj.gov/nij/topics/crime/elder-abuse/welcome.htm  

  
For more information on elder maltreatment, visit www.cdc.gov/ncipc.  

  

Resources: Child Abuse Prevention & Reporting  
  
• National Child Abuse Hotline: To report abuse or get help call 1-800-4-A-CHILD (1-800-422-4453)  

  
Additional Resources:  

  
• Centers for Disease Control and Prevention: www.cdc.gov/injury  

  
• Children’s Bureau, Administration for Children and Families: www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/cb  

  
• Child Welfare Information Gateway: www.childwelfare.gov  

  



 

• FRIENDS National Resource Center: www.friendsnrc.org  

  
• National Scientific Council on the Developing Child: www.developingchild.net  
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